
Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Environmental Well-Being) 
 
 A meeting of the OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

(ENVIRONMENTAL WELL-BEING) will be held in the CIVIC SUITE 
1A, PATHFINDER HOUSE, ST MARY'S STREET, HUNTINGDON 
CAMBS PE29 3TN on TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2011 at 7:00 PM 
and you are requested to attend for the transaction of the following 
business:- 

 
A G E N D A 

 
  
 APOLOGIES   

 
1. MINUTES  (Pages 1 - 4) 
 
 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the 

Panel held on 7th December 2010. 
 
 

2. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 
 To receive from Members declarations as to personal and/or 

prejudicial interests and the nature of those interests in relation to any 
Agenda item. Please see notes 1 and 2 overleaf. 
 
 

3. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000: FORWARD PLAN  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
 A copy of the current Forward Plan, which was published on 13th 

January 2011, is attached.  Members are invited to note the Plan and 
to comment as appropriate on any items contained therein. 
 
 

4. LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN   
 
 To Consider a report by the Head of Planning Services seeking 

Members comments on the draft Local Transport Plan 2011 prior to its 
consideration by Cabinet – to follow. 
 
 

5. HUNTINGDON WEST AREA ADOPTION PROCEDURES  (Pages 9 - 
24) 

 
 To consider a report by the Head of Planning Services on adoption 

procedures for the Huntingdon West Area Action Plan. 
 

6. PLANNING CONSERVATION WORKING GROUP   
 
 To consider the report of the Planning Conservation Working Group – 

to follow. 



 
 

7. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL PROGRESS  (Pages 25 - 28) 
 
 To consider a report by the Head of Democratic and Central Services 

on decisions taken by the Panel. 
 
 

8. WORK PLAN STUDIES  (Pages 29 - 36) 
 
 To consider, with the aid of a report by the Head of Democratic and 

Central Services, the current programme of Overview and Scrutiny 
studies. 
 
 

9. SCRUTINY   
 
 To scrutinise decisions as set out in the Decision Digest and to raise 

any other matters for scrutiny that fall within the remit of the Panel. 
 
 

 
 Dated this 31 day of January 2011 
 

               Chief Executive 
  
  
  

  
 
Notes 
 
1.  A personal interest exists where a decision on a matter would affect to a 

greater extent than other people in the District – 
 

(a) the well-being, financial position, employment or business of the 
Councillor, their family or any person with whom they had a close 
association; 

 
 (b) a body employing those persons, any firm in which they are a partner 

and any company of which they are directors; 
 
 (c) any corporate body in which those persons have a beneficial interest 

in a class of securities exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or 
 
 (d) the Councillor’s registerable financial and other interests. 
 
2. A personal interest becomes a prejudicial interest where a member of the 

public (who has knowledge of the circumstances) would reasonably regard 
the Member’s personal interest as being so significant that it is likely to 
prejudice the Councillor’s judgement of the public interest. 

 
 



 
Please contact Mrs Amanda Jerrom, Democratic Services, Tel: 01480 388009 
email: amanda.jerrom@huntsdc.gov.uk  if you have a general query on any 
Agenda Item, wish to tender your apologies for absence from the meeting, or 
would like information on any decision taken by the Committee/Panel. 
Specific enquiries with regard to items on the Agenda should be directed 
towards the Contact Officer. 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except 
during consideration of confidential or exempt items of business. 

 
 

Agenda and enclosures can be viewed on the District Council’s website – 
www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk (under Councils and Democracy). 

 
 

If you would like a translation of 
Agenda/Minutes/Reports or would like a  

large text version or an audio version  
please contact the Democratic Services Manager and 

we will try to accommodate your needs. 
 
 

Emergency Procedure 
In the event of the fire alarm being sounded and on the instruction of the Meeting 
Administrator, all attendees are requested to vacate the building via the closest 
emergency exit. 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
 MINUTES of the meeting of the OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

(ENVIRONMENTAL WELL-BEING) held in the Civic Suite, Pathfinder 
House, St Mary's Street, Huntingdon, PE29 3TN on Tuesday, 7 
December 2010. 

   
 PRESENT: Councillor P M D Godfrey – Chairman. 
   
  Councillors K M Baker, M G Baker, 

Mrs M Banerjee, J W Davies, P J Downes, 
P Godley, D Harty, M F Newman and 
J S Watt. 

   
  Messrs D Hopkins and M Phillips 
   
 IN ATTENDANCE: Councillors D B Dew and J A Gray. 
 
57. MINUTES   

 
 The Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 9th November 2010 

were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 

58. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 

 No declarations were received. 
 

59. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000: FORWARD PLAN   
 

 The Panel considered and noted the current forward plan of key 
decisions (a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) 
scheduled for consideration by the Cabinet, which had been prepared 
by the Leader of the Council.   
 
In so doing, Members requested sight of the Cambridgeshire Green 
Infrastructure Strategy when this became available. 
 

60. CABINET FEEDBACK   
 

 The Panel received and noted a report from the Cabinet detailing their 
deliberations on the St Neots East Urban Design Framework in 
response to the Panel's recommendations. 
 

61. TREE STRATEGY   
 

 (Councillor D B Dew, Executive Councillor for Planning Strategy and 
Transport was in attendance for this item.) 
 
The Panel received a presentation from the Council's Arboricultural 
Officer on the development of a Tree Strategy for Huntingdonshire.  
Members were advised of the desire to ensure that the District had a 
plentiful, healthy and attractive tree population that was managed and 
maintained to a high standard for the benefit of all which it was hoped 
would be achieved by the preparation of a Tree Strategy. 

Agenda Item 1

1



 
In compiling the Strategy, Officers would be establishing the nature 
and extent of the resource to be managed and would be consulting 
widely to ensure that the Strategy met the needs of the community.  A 
small Working Group of the Panel had been established to assist in 
the process. 
 
In noting that the neglect of trees and hedges was a regular complaint 
of constituents to Members, the Panel was advised that Officers could 
not get involved with neighbour disputes but that local Members were 
often in a good position to mediate.  In response to a question by a 
Member, the Panel was advised that the County Council had powers 
to serve a notice to prune trees and hedgerows overhanging a 
highway if an owner failed to carry out the works, the County Council 
could carry them out either recharge the owner or place a charge on 
the Land Charges Register against the property. 
 

62. ENVIRONMENT STRATEGY REVIEW   
 

 (Councillor J A Gray, Executive Councillor the Environment and 
Information Technology was in attendance for this item.) 
 
The Panel considered a report by the Head of Environmental 
Management (a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) on 
the Council's Environment Strategy.   
 
The Panel was advised that the recent budget consultation had 
highlighted that environmental projects were perceived as a low 
priority for the District's residents.  However, the Environmental 
Management Team remained committed to delivering the aims set 
out in the Environment Strategy with the implementation of 
environmental projects providing an opportunity to reduce energy 
costs for both the Council and residents by becoming more 
environmentally efficient and making the District more economically 
competitive.  Members were informed that the Environment Strategy 
placed the District Council at the forefront of moving forward the low 
carbon agenda.   
 
With regard to the ‘Watts Going Down’ scheme whereby residents 
were encouraged to reduce energy wasted in the home with the help 
of real time energy monitors, the Panel noted that the withdrawal of 
LPSA funding from the project meant that the stock of meters was 
diminishing.  The Council's Environment Team Leader undertook to 
explore the feasibility of hiring the remaining meters to the public 
through the District’s libraries. 
 
In noting that electricity usage in the new Pathfinder House was 
higher than anticipated, the Panel was assured that the forthcoming 
server virtualisation project would resolve this issue as the power 
consumed by the Council's computers would be significantly reduced. 
 
Members congratulated Officers for their work to date on the 
Environment Strategy and requested a further review in twelve 
months time. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

2



 that the report be endorsed for submission to the Cabinet. 
 

63. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT   
 

 The Panel received a report by the Head of People, Performance and 
Partnerships (a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) on the 
performance of the authority against the priority objectives for 
environmental well-being as identified in ‘Growing Success’, the 
Council's Corporate Plan.  The report had already been presented to 
a recent meeting of the Corporate Plan Working Group which 
comprised the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panels.   
 

64. PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS DEVELOPMENT: CONSULTATION   
 

 The Panel endorsed a response to the recently published Planning for 
Schools Development consultation exercise which had invited views 
on the Government's proposals to make changes to the General 
Permitted Development Order to give permitted rights for a change of 
use for school development.  The draft response highlighted the 
Panel's concerns that the proposed absence of any requirement for 
planning permission would prevent local objection to the opening of a 
new school, dispense with the requirement for a traffic impact 
assessment and remove any democratic involvement in the process.  
(A copy of the draft response prepared by a working group comprising 
Councillors Dew, Downes and Mitchell is appended in the Minute 
Book). 
 
RESOLVED 
 
 that the draft response be approved and submitted to the 

Government. 
 

65. WORK PLAN STUDIES AND WORKING GROUP TEMPLATES   
 

 The Panel considered and noted a response by the Head of 
Democratic and Central Services (a copy of which is appended in the 
Minute Book) reviewing the Panel's programme of studies and 
informing Members of studies being undertaken by the other Scrutiny 
Panels. 
 
The Panel noted that the next meeting of the Tree Strategy Working 
Group would be held in January 2011. 
 

66. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL PROGRESS   
 

 The Panel was advised of progress on issues that had been 
previously discussed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3



67. SCRUTINY   
 

 The Panel considered and noted the latest edition of the Council's 
Decision Digest summarising the Council's decisions since the 
previous meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 
 

4



 

  
FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 

Prepared by Councillor I C Bates  
Date of Publication: 13 January 2011 
For Period: 1st February to 31 May 2011 

 

Membership of the Cabinet is as follows:- 
 

Councillor I C Bates  - Leader of the Council 4 Church End 
Hilton 
Huntingdon   PE28 9NJ 
 

Tel:  01480 830250          E-mail:  Ian.Bates@huntsdc.gov.uk 
Councillor L M Simpson  - Deputy Leader of the Council with Special  

  Responsibility for HQ/Accommodation 
45 Devoke Close 
Stukeley Meadows 
Huntingdon 
Cambs     PE29 6XE 
 

Tel:  01480 388946        E-mail:  Mike.Simpson@huntsdc.gov.uk 
Councillor K J Churchill - Executive Councillor for Resources 

   and Policy 
51 Gordon Road 
Little Paxton 
St Neots 
PE19 6NJ 
 
Tel:  01480 352040 E-mail:  Ken.Churchill@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Councillor D B Dew - Executive Councillor for Planning Strategy and  
  Transport 

4 Weir Road 
Hemingford Grey 
Huntingdon  
PE28 9EH 
 

Tel:  01480 469814        E-mail:  Douglas.Dew@huntsdc.gov.uk  
Councillor J A Gray - Executive Councillor for Environment and    

  Information Technology 
 

Shufflewick Cottage 
Station Row 
Tilbrook 
PE28 OJY 
 

Tel:  01480  861941      E-mail:  JG@novae.com 

A
genda Item

 3

5



 
Councillor C R Hyams - Executive Councillor for Operational 

  and Countryside Services 
22 Bluegate 
Godmanchester 
Huntingdon 
Cambs PE29 2EZ 
 

Tel:  01480 388968         E-mail:  Colin.Hyams@huntsdc.gov.uk  
Councillor A Hansard - Executive Councillor for Housing and 

  Public Health 
78 Potton Road 
Eynesbury 
St Neots 
PE19 2NN 
 

Tel:  01480 388942      E-mail:  Andrew.Hansard@huntsdc.gov.uk 
Councillor Mrs D C Reynolds - Executive Councillor for Leisure, Law, 

  Property and Governance 
17 Virginia Way 
St Ives 
PE27 6SQ 
 

Tel:  01480 388935   E-mail:  Deborah.Reynolds@huntsdc.gov.uk 
Councillor T V Rogers   - Executive Councillor for Finance and 

  Customer Services 
 

Honeysuckle Cottage 
34 Meadow Lane 
Earith 
Huntingdon     PE28 3QE 
 

Tel:  01487 840477          E-mail:  Terence.Rogers@huntsdc.gov.uk 
 

Any person who wishes to make representations to the decision maker about a decision which is to be made may do so by contacting Mrs Helen Taylor, Senior Democratic Services Officer on 
01480 388008 or E-mail:   Helen.Taylor@huntsdc.gov.uk  not less than 14 days prior to the date when the decision is to be made. 
 

The documents available may be obtained by contacting the relevant officer shown in this plan who will be responsible for preparing the final report to be submitted to the decision maker on the 
matter in relation to which the decision is to be made.  Similarly any enquiries as to the subject or matter to be tabled for decision or on the availability of supporting information or documentation 
should be directed to the relevant officer. 
 

Roy Reeves 
Head of Administration 
 

Notes:- (i) Additions/significant changes from the previous Forward are annotated *** 
 (ii) For information about how representations about the above decisions may be made please see the Council’s Petitions Procedure at http://www.huntsdc.gov.uk/NR/rdonlyres/3F6CFE28-
C5F0-4BA0-9BF2-76EBAE06C89D/0/Petitionsleaflet.pdf or telephone 01480 388006 

 

 

Subject/Matter 
for Decision 

Decision/ 
recommendation 
to be made by 

Date 
decision to 
be taken 

Documents 
Available 

How relevant Officer 
can be contacted 

Consultation Relevant    
Executive 
Councillor 

Relevant 
Overview & 

Scrutiny Panel 

6



Subject/Matter 
for Decision 

Decision/ 
recommendation 
to be made by 

Date 
decision to 
be taken 

Documents 
Available 

How relevant Officer 
can be contacted 

Consultation Relevant    
Executive 
Councillor 

Relevant 
Overview & 

Scrutiny Panel 
 
Asset Management 
Plan - Annual Report 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
17 Feb 2011 
 

 
Previous Cabinet 
Reports 
 

 
Keith Phillips, Estates and Property Manager 
Tel No. 01480 388260 or e-mail 
Keith.Phillips@huntsdc.gov.uk 
 

 
  

 
Mrs D C 
Reynolds 
 

 
Economic Well-
Being 
 

 
One Leisure, St. Ives 
-  Proposal for 
Development 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
17 Feb 2011 
 

 
None 
 

 
Simon Bell, General Manager, One Leisure 
Tel No. 01480 388049 or e-mail 
Simon.Bell@huntsdc.gov.uk 
 

 
  

 
Mrs D C 
Reynolds 
 

 
Social Well-
Being 
 

 
Local Transport Plan 
(LTP3) 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
17 Feb 2011 
 

 
Draft Local Transport 
Plan 
 

 
Paul Bland, Planning Service Manager 
(Policy) Tel No 01480 388430 or e-mail 
Paul.Bland@huntsdc.gov.uk 
 

 
Endorse as Council 
policy  

 
D B Dew 
 

 
Environmental 
Well-Being 
 

 
Open Space Strategy 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
17 Feb 2011 
 

 
Open Space Strategy 
 

 
Mr Howard Thackray, Policy and Strategic 
Services Manager Tel No 01480 388035 or 
e-mail Howard.Thackray@huntsdc.gov.uk 
 

 
Planned with Town 
and Parish Councils  

 
C Hyams 
 

 
Social Well-
Being 
 

 
Budget and MTP 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
17 Feb 2011 
 

 
Draft MTP previous 
year's budget report 
various annexes 
 

 
Steve Couper, Head of Financial Services 
Tel No. 01480 388103 or e-mail 
Steve.Couper@huntsdc.gov.uk 
 

 
Overview and 
Scrutiny  (Economic 
Well-Being)  

 
T V Rogers 
 

 
Economic Well-
Being 
 

 
Treasury 
Management 
Strategy and 
Prudential Indicators 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
17 Feb 2011 
 

 
Previous year's 
strategy 
 

 
Steve Couper, Head of Financial Services 
Tel No. 01480 388103 or e-mail 
Steve.Couper@huntsdc.gov.uk 
 

 
Overview and 
Scrutiny (Economic 
Well-Being)   

 
T V Rogers 
 

 
Economic Well-
Being 
 

 
Payment of Recycling 
Credits*** 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
17 Mar 2011 
 

 
None. 
 

 
Sonia  Hansen, Development and 
Community Manager Tel No. 01480 388630 
or e-mail Sonia.Hansen@huntsdc.gov.uk 
 

 
  

 
C Hyams 
 

 
Environmental 
Well-Being 
 

7



Subject/Matter 
for Decision 

Decision/ 
recommendation 
to be made by 

Date 
decision to 
be taken 

Documents 
Available 

How relevant Officer 
can be contacted 

Consultation Relevant    
Executive 
Councillor 

Relevant 
Overview & 

Scrutiny Panel 
 
Home Improvement 
Agency Review - 
Future Delivery Model 
Consultation 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
17 Mar 2011 
 

 
None 
 

 
Steve Plant, Head of Housing Services Tel 
No. 01480 388240 or e-mail 
Steve.Plant@huntsdc.gov.uk 
 

 
  

 
A Hansard 
 

 
Social Well-
Being 
 

 
Contributions 
Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
Supplementary 
Planning Document 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
17 Mar 2011 
 

 
Local Investment 
Framework 
 

 
Paul Bland, Planning Service Manager 
(Policy) Tel No. 01480 388430 or e-mail 
Paul.Bland@huntsdc.gov.uk 
 

 
Endorse as Council 
policy  

 
D Dew 
 

 
Environmental 
Well-Being 
 

 

8



           
COMT            25th January 2011 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY                                                 8th February 2011 
CABINET            17th February 2011 
COUNCIL                                                23rd February 2011 
 
 

HUNTINGDON WEST AREA ACTION PLAN 
THE INSPECTOR’S BINDING REPORT / ADOPTION PROCEDURES 

(Report by Head of Planning Services) 
 
 
1.   INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Council that, following his examination 

of the submitted Huntingdon West Area Action Plan (AAP), the Inspector has 
now issued his binding report which has found the AAP to be sound, and 
therefore the Council can now adopt this AAP as part of the Development 
Plan. 

 
1.2 A copy of the Inspector’s report is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
2.    BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Proposed Submission Huntingdon West AAP was submitted to the 

Planning Inspectorate in April 2010.   
 
2.2 An independent Planning Inspector, David Vickery, conducted an 

examination into the soundness of the AAP by way of written exchanges and 
public hearing sessions in July and August. The Inspector considered 
representations received on the Proposed Submission document, together 
with further statements for the hearings, and all relevant evidence including a 
Sustainability Appraisal.  

 
3.    THE INSPECTOR’S REPORT 
 
3.1 The Inspector has now issued his binding report and he has found the AAP 

to be sound subject to a number of agreed changes being made to the 
Proposed Submission version.  All of these changes have been proposed by 
Council, either at the time of Submission in April 2010 (having viewed 
representations received on the Proposed Submission document) or later 
following questions raised by the Inspector.  A final set of changes was sent 
to the Inspectorate following the October Spending Review to update the 
Plan further to the withdrawal of the A14 scheme in favour of a new study.  

 
3.2 Due to changes in government guidance, the process of considering this 

plan differed slightly from that for the Core Strategy. The Proposed 
Submission was a new separate stage and the Inspector sought to make his 
decision based on changes put forward by the Council rather than proposing 
any changes himself.  This may also be the process for future development 
plan documents as it is the one outlined in the Localism Bill.    

 
3.3 The Inspector’s report is primarily concerned with addressing the tests of 

‘soundness’ which include whether the plan is ‘justified’ by evidence and 
‘effective’ in that it is able to be implemented.  

 
 

Agenda Item 5

9



3.4 The Inspector found that with the agreed amendments: 
o The AAP can effectively respond to changes to the related transport 

schemes 
o The AAP appropriately details requirements for mixed use development to 

the west of the town centre 
o A limited amount of development is likely to the west of the railway line 

and in the Hinchingbrooke area 
o The proposed extension to Hinchingbrooke Country Park can occur 
o The infrastructure requirements are founded on a robust evidence base 
o The AAP can be monitored in an effective manner 

 
3.5 Therefore he concluded that the AAP met the overall criteria for soundness 

and complied with all the legal requirements. The sustainability appraisal is 
also adopted through this process. 

 
4.   ADOPTION OF THE AREA ACTION PLAN 
 
4.1 Adoption of the Huntingdon West Area Action Plan will ensure that the most 

up to date policies are applied in respect of the planning proposals for this 
area, and its status will help to facilitate positive change and redevelopment. 

 
4.2 The west of town centre area offers an opportunity for appropriately 

increasing the retail offer within Huntingdon whilst supporting the town centre 
and appropriate redevelopment of Chequers Court. The precise details of 
this requirement were discussed at length during the hearings.  New housing 
and offices, as well as an additional public car park and other town centre 
uses are also envisaged to come forward on this previously developed land.    

 
4.3 The AAP allocates land currently temporarily used for car parking opposite 

the railway station for the development of employment activities, together 
with Cambridgeshire Constabulary land in Hinchingbrooke.   It was clarified 
during the hearings that the two parcels which currently have permission for 
the Regional College and the Water Tower can be allocated for alternative 
uses should those permissions not be implemented. However, the intention 
in the Proposed Submission document to allow for some redevelopment on 
the hospital site, possibly with additional road access, was not pursued on 
the basis that the hospital management did not have an agreed plan to 
release any land.  

 
4.4 In respect of open space, within a year of adopting the AAP it is intended that 

progress will be made to extend Hinchingbrooke Country Park using Higher 
Level Stewardship funding. The Plan also sets out how land can be added to 
Views Common should the further A14 Study decide that the viaduct across 
the railway will be removed. 

 
5.  RECOMMENDATION 
 
5.1 It is therefore recommended that Council: 

a. Adopts the Huntingdon West Area Action Plan as part of the 
Development Plan for the district. 

 
Appendix 1:  The Inspector’s letter to the Chief Executive and his report on the 
Examination into the Huntingdon West Area Action Plan  
 
CONTACT OFFICER - enquiries about this report to Steve Ingram, Head of 
Planning Services, on 01480 388400 

10



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 
 

- 1 - 
 

 

 

 
Direct Line: 0117 372 8128 
Customer Services: 0117 372 6372 
Fax No: 0117 372 8782 
e-mail: Allison.ingham@pins.gsi.gov.uk 

4/03 Kite Wing  
Temple Quay House 
2 The Square 
Bristol 
BS1 6PN   
 
Mr. Monks 
Huntingdonshire District Council 
Pathfinder House 
St. Mary’s Street 
Huntingdon 
PE29 3TN 

Our Ref: PINS/H0520/429/6 
Date:23 December 2010  

 
Dear Mr Monks 
 
Huntingdonshire District Council  
Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD 
 
1. As you know I was appointed by the Secretary of State to carry out an 
independent examination of the Huntingdon West Area Action Plan Development 
Plan Document, which was submitted on 9 April 2010 under section 20 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. My overall conclusion is that, with the changes recommended in my Report, 
this DPD satisfies the requirements of Section 20 (5) (a) and (b) of the 2004 Act 
and the associated 2004 Regulations (as amended), and also meets the soundness 
criteria set out in Planning Policy Statement 12.  Thus, I find that the Huntingdon 
West AAP has complied with the legal requirements and is sound. 
 
3. I held a Pre-Hearing meeting on 2 June 2010 and conducted the 
Examination by way of written exchanges and a series of hearings that were held 
between 27 July and 4 August 2010.  I have also considered the representations 
made following the consultation on the Council’s Proposed Changes and their 
Sustainability Appraisal in October 2010. 
 
4. Please convey my thanks to all the Council’s staff for their helpful, positive 
and professional response to my issues and questions.  I would also like to record 
my grateful appreciation to my Programme Officer, Gloria Alexander - her good 
humour, friendliness, organisational skills, and efficiency ensured that the entire 
Examination ran smoothly. 
 
5. I hope that my conclusions and recommendations in the accompanying 
Report will enable your Council to ensure a positive social, economic and 
environmental outcome for Huntingdon to benefit the local community. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 David Vickery 

11



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 

- 2 - 

 
 

 
 
 
Report to Huntingdonshire District 
Council 
by  David Vickery DipT&CP MRTPI 
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

23 December 2010 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 
SECTION 20 

 

REPORT ON THE EXAMINATION INTO THE 
HUNTINGDON WEST AREA ACTION PLAN 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Document submitted for Examination on 9 April 2010 

Examination hearings held between 27 July and 4 August 2010 
File Ref: PINS/H0520/429/6 

12



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 

- 3 - 

 
 

Non-technical Summary 
 

 
This report concludes that the Huntingdon West Area Action Plan (AAP) provides 
an appropriate basis for the planning of this part of the District over the next 15 
years.  The Council has sufficient evidence to support the strategy and can show 
that it has a reasonable chance of being delivered. 
 
A limited number of changes are needed to meet legal and statutory 
requirements.  These can be summarised as follows:    
 

• Clarifying how the AAP would provide flexibility and be effective in dealing 
with the Government’s withdrawal of the A14 road improvements in the 
October 2010 Comprehensive Spending Review and the possibility that the 
West of Town Centre Link Road might not be implemented; 

• Making the AAP effective by detailing how the pedestrian and cycle links in 
policy HW2 would be implemented; 

• Deleting a number of unnecessary Maps; 
• Setting out the scale and amount of the retail and employment allocations 

in policy HW4, and indicating the key factors for development location and 
future flexibility, so that the policy is consistent with national policy, is 
effective, seen to be justified, and complies with the Core Strategy; 

• Clarifying the access arrangements for various sites allocated in policy HW5 
so that they are effective; 

• Deleting an unjustified, imprecise and so ineffective alternative uses 
allocation for parts of Hinchingbrooke Hospital in policy HW5; 

• Making clear how the proposed Country Park extensions and its new car 
park would be implemented so that policy HW6 is effective; 

• Deleting unjustified open space and building sustainability requirements in 
policies HW8 and HW9; 

• Deleting unjustified references to a Hinchingbrooke Link Road whilst still 
retaining the possibility of its future investigation; and 

• Ensuring that the monitoring section meets Government advice. 
 
All of the changes recommended in this report are based on suggestions put 
forward by the Council during the Examination in response to points raised by 
participants. Whilst none of the changes alter the focus of the Council’s overall 
strategy, the main changes (in Appendix A), except PC1 and PC2, have been 
subject to Sustainability Appraisal.  All of the consultation responses have been 
taken into account. 
 
 

13



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 

- 4 - 

Introduction 
i. This report contains my assessment of the Huntingdon West Area Action Plan 

(the AAP) Development Plan Document (DPD) in terms of Section 20 (5) of 
the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  It considers whether the AAP 
is compliant in legal terms and whether it is sound.  Planning Policy Statement 
(PPS) 12 at paragraphs 4.51 and 4.52 makes clear that to be sound a DPD 
should be justified, effective and consistent with national policy. 

ii. The starting point for the Examination is the assumption that the Council has 
submitted what it considers to be a sound plan.  The basis for the 
Examination is the submitted AAP of December 2009.  My approach to the 
Examination has been to work with the Council and the respondents in a 
positive, pragmatic and proactive manner, with the aim of resolving 
differences and any elements of unsoundness in the AAP. 

iii. The report deals with the changes that are needed to make the AAP sound, 
and they are identified in bold in the report by the letters PC (for Proposed 
Change) followed by a reference number identifying the exact change in 
Appendix A, e.g. PC11.  All of these changes have ultimately been proposed 
by the Council.  None of these changes should materially alter the substance 
of the AAP and its policies, or undermine the Sustainability Appraisals and 
participatory processes undertaken. 

iv. Some additional changes put forward by the Council before and during the 
Examination are factual updates, corrections of minor errors or other minor 
amendments in the interests of clarity.  These are shown in Appendix B.  As 
these changes are not required to make the AAP sound they are generally not 
referred to in this report although I endorse the Council’s view that they add 
to the clarity and cohesiveness of the AAP.  I am content for the Council to 
make any further necessary additional minor changes to text, page numbers, 
maps, paragraph numbering etc., to correct spelling, and to make factual 
updates which may become apparent during the final editing of the AAP 
before its adoption. 

v. With two exceptions, all of the changes that the Council has proposed 
following the submission of the AAP have been subject to public consultation1.  
The two exceptions are, firstly, the Council’s changes made as a result of the 
October 2010 Comprehensive Spending Review decision by the Government 
to withdraw the A14 improvement scheme and, secondly, the minor changes 
made by the Council as a result of its consideration of the later public 
consultation responses.  These changes have all been shown on the Council’s 
web site.  All but three of the Appendix A changes have also been subject to 
Sustainability Appraisal.  The three exceptions (PC1, PC2 and PC15) again 
result from the Government’s withdrawal of the A14 scheme.  I have taken all 
of the consultation responses into account. 

vi. References in the report to documentary sources are provided in footnotes, 
such as the one below, using the document’s reference number in the 
Examination’s official ‘Reference Documents’ list. 

                                       
1 LOC52 

14



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 

- 5 - 

Assessment of Soundness 
Preamble 
1. During the Examination on 6 July 2010 the Secretary of State announced the 
revocation of Regional Strategies with immediate effect, which included the East of 
England Plan.  However, this was challenged by Cala Homes Ltd in the High Court 
and the outcome, on 10 November 2010, was to quash the 6 July revocation.   The 
Secretary of State has decided not to appeal this decision.  As a consequence, the 
East of England Plan as it stood on 5 July forms an ongoing part of the 
development plan. 
2. At the time of the 6 July revocation the Council said at the Pre-Hearing 
Meeting that the absence of the East of England Plan would not alter the major 
component of housing land supply for the AAP, namely the adopted Core Strategy.  
Moreover, the Council was of the opinion that housing allocations in the AAP were 
minimal and were not so significant that the absence of the Regional Strategy 
would have major consequences for the AAP’s soundness.  There were no other 
implications of the revocation that might affect the AAP.  There were no contrary 
views from respondents.  Thus it makes no difference to the AAP’s soundness 
whether the East of England Plan is revoked or not.  However, the AAP complies 
with the Core Strategy which, in turn, complies with the East of England Plan. 
Main Issues 
3. Taking account of all the representations, written evidence and the discussions 
that took place at the Examination hearings, there are six main issues upon which 
the soundness of the AAP depends.  It will be recalled that the soundness criteria 
are whether the AAP is justified, effective and consistent with national policy. 
Issue 1 – Do the transport schemes in the AAP’s proposals have a justified 
basis, and does the AAP deal adequately with any uncertainty about them 
so that it is effective? 
4. On 10 June 2010 the Inquiry into the A14 road diversion improvements which 
would have affected Huntingdon and the AAP area was postponed pending the 
result of the Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review.   
5. The Government decided in that Spending Review on 20 October 2010 to 
withdraw the proposed A14 Ellington to Fen Ditton road improvement scheme.  
Instead, the Department of Transport will undertake a study to identify cost 
effective and practical proposals which bring benefits and relieve congestion.  The 
withdrawal of the A14 improvements was a possibility which had been fully 
canvassed and explored during the Examination at the hearing sessions. 
6. The evidence shows that the AAP’s proposals could still proceed without the 
A14 improvements, apart from the reinstatement of the Views Common land (part 
of policy HW7) and that part of site B in policy HW5 b. which are both presently 
covered by the A14 viaduct.  The Council suggested a number of changes to take 
account of the Government’s A14 decision, which I endorse and which are included 
in the recommended changes in the Appendices (see below). 
7. Those suggestions are: alterations to policy HW1 to delete references to the 
A14 changes and add the Department of Transport’s new A14 study (PC1); the 
deletion of Map 3 showing the now withdrawn A14 changes (the Link Road is 

15



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 

- 6 - 

shown on other Maps in the AAP) (PC2); an addition to the beginning of the AAP’s 
Appendix 2 (Phasing) (PC3); an alteration to its paragraph 2.7 (PC4); and the 
deletion of Map 9 (PC15).  Without these changes the AAP would be unsound as it 
would not reflect the fact that the A14 improvements will not take place. 
8. The proposed West of Town Centre Link Road is more fundamental to the 
AAP’s proposals, especially those in policy HW4.  It is designed to provide access to 
many of the policy HW4 parcels of development land and the Council said that the 
Traffic Assessment2 indicated it would result in a traffic flow reduction of about one 
third around the nearest part of the town’s ring road, thereby enabling better 
pedestrian and cycle links to the town centre.  This will improve accessibility and 
integration with surrounding areas, which is an Objective of the AAP. 
9. The Council stated that it was confident that the Link Road will be constructed 
and it provided a detailed budget3 to show that it had the monies available from 
various reliable and robust sources in order to pay for it.  In particular, it was said 
that the Link Road is Cambridge Horizons’ top priority across Cambridgeshire 
Districts so far as Housing Growth Fund monies are concerned, and that that 
money is available for the Council to claim.  The Council has clearly worked hard 
with public partners to do all it can to secure funds.  Therefore, there is a more 
than reasonable chance that the Link Road will be constructed within the timescale 
in the AAP, thereby providing the main necessary infrastructure to implement the 
proposed development. 
10. However, the Council was prudent and right to suggest a change to Appendix 
2 to deal with the possibility, however unlikely, that the Link Road might not be 
built for whatever reason.  This change (PC5) allows for the possibility of some 
small scale development in parts of the AAP, the safeguarding of the Link Road 
route, and the option for the Council to trigger a review of the AAP to deal with the 
changed situation.  Without this change the AAP would be unsound as it would not 
say how the possible absence of the Link Road would be handled. 
11. As submitted the AAP is not effective because it does not clearly explain how 
the proposed pedestrian and cycle links in policy HW2 are to be implemented, and 
so it would be unsound.  So I endorse the Council’s suggested change (PC6) to 
Appendix 2 which corrects this by saying that these links would be provided as part 
of development and with proposals in the Huntingdon & Godmanchester Market 
Town Transport Strategy4.  Despite some respondents’ concerns about the 
effectiveness of these links, I consider that they are understandable and logical, 
and would improve accessibility in the area.  No other alternatives were suggested, 
but if some are subsequently identified there is no reason why they could not be 
incorporated into any review of the Market Town Transport Strategy. 
12. Policy HW3 is a generalised facilities and transport links enhancement policy 
for the railway station.  Map 5 as submitted is confusing as the new car park 
nearest the station and the possible temporary car park have now been 
implemented; it does not explain or aid understanding of the policy; and its other 
features are covered elsewhere in the AAP.  Map 5 should therefore be deleted as 
the Council suggest because it harms policy HW3’s effectiveness (PC7). 
                                       
2 INF22 
3 LOC51 
4 INF15 

16



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 

- 7 - 

Issue 2 – Is policy HW4 (George St/Ermine St) consistent with national 
policy, clear in its requirements so that it is effective, and in conformity 
with the Core Strategy? 
13. The underlying principles for the HW4 site are laid out in the Core Strategy.  
Policy CS8 sets out the mixed use nature of the site’s development that is to be 
implemented in this AAP; the minimum (“at least”) amount of retail development 
to be achieved; and the requirement that retail development here should be 
complementary and appropriate so that it does not jeopardise the delivery of the 
further redevelopment of Chequers Court in the town centre. 
14. HW4 is the key policy in the AAP as it covers the largest and most complex 
AAP allocation of over 6 hectares of land to the north-west of the town centre 
through which the Link Road will run.  It is to be redeveloped for a variety of mixed 
uses such as residential, retail and employment.  The policy wording as submitted 
is vague in its intentions, and the concept map, by its very nature, does not 
purport to set out in detail the policy’s implementation.  Although the policy sets 
out the range of dwelling numbers to be achieved (and specifies other uses), it 
does not indicate the quantum of employment or retail development – and it is this 
last failing which is the root cause of why the policy is unsound without 
amendment.  The next four paragraphs set out the key reasons for the policy’s 
unsoundness when judged against the PPS12 criteria. 
15. Policy HW4 (and its associated text) as submitted is not consistent with 
national policies because it: 
• does not identify the appropriate scale of development for the employment 

and retail elements of this mixed use site (PPS12 and PPS4); 
• fails to specify the amount and type of retail floorspace and so does not take 

account of the quantitative need for additional floorspace for different types 
of retail development in Huntingdon (PPS4); 

• appears to leave the identification by sequential assessment of a suitable site 
for retail development to a future planning application (PPS4); 

• the lack of retail detail leaves uncertain its impact on the Core Strategy 
prioritised redevelopment of Chequers Court in the town centre (PPS4); and 

• leaves to a masterplan the task of allocating the principal development uses 
of the various parcels of land within this mixed use site (PPS12). 

 
16. The policy is not justified because: 
• the amount and type of retail development in the Chequers Court town 

centre redevelopment has not been quantified and so the impact of the retail 
element of this policy upon it cannot be properly assessed; and 

• the traffic modelling for the Link Road assumes a quantum of development 
which was not quantified in the policy, and so its favourable traffic impact 
conclusions were not assured. 

 
17. The policy is not effective because of the above concerns, and so it is unlikely 
to be delivered in accordance with the requirements of Core Strategy policy CS8. 
18. The policy is not in conformity with the Core Strategy as there is no 
reasonable certainty what employment and retail developments would be provided, 
and a judgement cannot be made as to whether it would jeopardise the delivery of 
the Chequers Court town centre development. 

17



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 

- 8 - 

19. However, the Council commendably recognised these unsoundness issues and 
addressed them by suggesting changes (PC8) which primarily specified the 
proposed retail and employment allocations and set out an explanation of the 
methodology of calculating the retail floorspace.  The changes did not alter the 
policy’s principles, but used existing evidence and information produced by 
respondents to provide clearer details of its intentions. 
20. The employment floorspace suggested figure has been guided by the area 
shown on the concept map (Map 6e) which is approximately 0.57 hectares.  This is 
not a certain figure as there may also be employment uses mixed in with other 
uses elsewhere, and vice versa.  The Link Road’s Transport Assessment5 model for 
employment traffic generation would not be exceeded as it assumed a similar 
employment area of around 0.57 hectares.  This level of employment floorspace 
would be in conformity with the Core Strategy in its policy CS7.  To allow for 
flexibility in the amount of employment, the Council’s suggested change sensibly 
indicates in a footnote that this is a maximum figure, and outlines the factors 
which would need to be considered for any proposed higher figure. 
21. The derivation of the suggested retail floorspace figure is more complex.  Put 
simply, the latest information from the main landowners (Sainsbury’s and 
Churchmanor Estates) on the size of the Chequers Court redevelopment has been 
subtracted from the total potential need figure for retail development in 
Huntingdon from the March 2010 retail study6.  The Council produced a table 
showing this calculation7, which gave a maximum figure of 5,350 square metres 
[m2] of new comparison and convenience floorspace for the HW4 site.  This would 
be below the assumed traffic modelling figure of 9,000 m2 of retail development on 
this site, and so it would not affect the Transport Assessment’s favourable 
outcome. 
22. As with the employment figure, to allow for flexibility the Council’s suggested 
change indicates in a footnote that this is a maximum retail floorspace figure, and 
outlines the factors which would need to be considered for any proposed higher 
figure.  All this is necessary for soundness in order to prevent larger amounts of 
employment or retail development having unforeseen harmful consequences on the 
town and its shopping centre. 
23. The Council’s retail study is up-to-date and assesses quantitative and 
qualitative needs up to 2021 and, more indicatively, up to 2026.  For comparison 
goods the study estimated a potential for around 17,400 m2 in Huntingdon up to 
2026.  The study explained that it had recommended concentrating this amount of 
development in Huntingdon due to a lack of suitable sites in and around St Neots’ 
town centre.  This higher figure would still be in conformity with the Core Strategy 
as the floorspace areas mentioned in policy CS8 are minimum figures only, and 
that policy does not stipulate a specific proportionate split or exact amount to be 
shared between each of these two settlements.  It is up to the Council in other 
DPDs to meet the requirement for St Neots’ retail provision set out in policy CS8, 
or conversely to explain why this cannot be achieved. 

                                       
5 INF22 
6 RET4 
7 LOC51 

18



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 

- 9 - 

24. For retail convenience goods the study estimated a need for 2,050 m2 for 
Huntingdon by 2026.  It also identified the need for enhanced convenience retail 
provision towards the south or west of Huntingdon, which it said this site could 
satisfy.  I am satisfied that the retail study forms a reliable and credible evidence 
base on which floorspace requirements for this site can be based. 
25. The Core Strategy requirement is that any retail development on the HW4 site 
should be complementary and appropriate, and not jeopardise the delivery of the 
Chequers Court redevelopment.  The two principal land owners of the Chequers 
Court site took part in the Examination, and the floorspace estimate of that 
potential redevelopment was based on their figures.  So I am satisfied that this is a 
credible figure so far as can be judged at the present early stage of redevelopment 
plans for Chequers Court.  The suggested retail development floorspace figures for 
the policy have been calculated by taking away the floorspace estimate of 
Chequers Court from the retail study’s floorspace estimate.  Therefore, policy 
HW4’s retail floorspace would not jeopardise Chequers Court in the plan period and 
so the AAP would conform with the Core Strategy in this respect. 
26. Long term retail forecasting is imprecise and the forecast evidence for the last 
five year period up to 2026 is indicative only.  Even so, Government advice in the 
PPS4 Practice Guidance is that forecasts for development plans should be prepared 
for intermediate five year intervals, as has been done here.  In addition, in the 
medium term there is a possibility that a large retail development on this site could 
adversely affect the viability of the Chequers Court redevelopment.  But the Core 
Strategy and the AAP are clear on the priority of Chequers Court, and this is the 
guiding principle for the AAP retail allocation.  The completion of the HW4 retail 
development is likely to be in the middle of the AAP period (between 2012 and 
2020) and so a longer term retail forecast view to 2026 is justified, tempered by 
the flexibility to reduce or increase floorspace.  In the final analysis this, as the 
PPS4 Practice Guide says, is a matter of planning judgement, and I am satisfied 
that the policy as changed is sound.  This judgement is partly based on the 
flexibility of the policy as recommended to be changed, as explained below. 
27. On that matter of flexibility, the AAP would have sufficient built-in safeguards 
for the Council to be able to manage any necessary floorspace alterations as the 
Chequers Court redevelopment details become clearer.  The new footnote makes it 
clear that any increase above the approximate floorspace figure would require 
justification.  If the Council considers that a lesser floorspace figure would be more 
appropriate in the circumstances of the time, then that also would be possible.  
Thus with these changes the new retail element of the policy would be flexible and 
able to respond to changing economic circumstances, particularly the need to 
ensure the delivery of the Chequers Court redevelopment.  The retail floorspace 
quantum is not “cast in stone”. 
28. The precise balance of comparison and convenience retail floorspace between 
the HW4 site and Chequers Court cannot be quantified at present because this 
depends on the retail offer in the Chequers Court redevelopment.  So this, as 
policy HW4 indicates, is a matter which will have to be resolved during the 
consideration of any planning application on the HW4 site, and will be dependant 
on the circumstances at the time. 
29. It was said at the hearings that the AAP should be changed so that planning 
permission for retail development would not be granted on the HW4 site until 

19



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 

- 10 - 

planning permission had been granted for the Chequers Court redevelopment and, 
as a possible additional proviso, that the Chequers Court permission had been 
implemented.  But this is not what the Core Strategy requires, and the AAP is a 
subordinate Plan whose main purpose is to implement the spatial strategy and 
policies of the Core Strategy as it relates to this part of Huntingdon.  It is not 
possible to impose either a more onerous or a less restrictive requirement than 
that in the Core Strategy.  In any event, a more restrictive policy as advocated 
would not be effective as it could result in none of the much needed retail 
development taking place in Huntingdon if Chequers Court did not obtain 
permission (or was not implemented).  This would not be in the best interests of 
the people of Huntingdon as it could result in no improvement in the retail offer in 
the town, and it would also be an unreasonable constraint on the delivery of the 
HW4 site. 
30. In the event of a planning application on the HW4 site for retail development 
being considered before any Chequers Court site application(s), then the Council 
will have to decide what to do in the light of the Core Strategy policy CS8 and HW4 
requirements not to jeopardise the delivery of Chequers Court.  This seems to me 
to be entirely reasonable, realistic, practical and workable.  Thus I am satisfied that 
policy HW4 is in conformity with the Core Strategy so far as the prioritised delivery 
of Chequers Court is concerned. 
31. The use of the term “sequential analysis” in the AAP as submitted implies that 
retail development on the HW4 site has not been properly considered as required 
in PPS4 Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth.  The retail evidence base for 
the Core Strategy8 came to the conclusion that the general HW4 area was “edge-
of-centre” under the then similar Government retail guidance.  It also concluded 
that this area “will represent the next sequentially preferable location for 
comparison sector retail development in Huntingdon” (paragraph 9.27).  The 
Inspector’s report on the Core Strategy did not disagree with this conclusion.  
Indeed, Core Strategy policy CS8 could not have directed “appropriate” retail 
development to this site unless it had been concluded that it was sequentially 
acceptable.  Therefore, to suggest the contrary in the AAP would be unsound as 
this would not be in conformity with the Core Strategy which has already decided 
that the HW4 site is the next sequentially preferable location.   And it would also 
result in a confusing and a less effective and deliverable policy. 
32. The Council said that the phrase “sequential analysis” as used in the AAP 
(most notably in policy HW11, but also in paragraph 10.10 and in Appendix 2 
paragraph 2.4) was meant to indicate the factors which would guide the exact 
location of retail development on this large site.  These factors have caused the 
HW4 policy to prefer a probable retail location at the site’s southern end near to 
George Street, as set out at the end of paragraph 7.4.  It follows, for all the above 
reasons, that I support and welcome the Council’s suggested changes to delete the 
words “sequential analysis” from the AAP, and instead to set out the AAP’s key 
factors by which the location of any planning application for retail development 
would be judged, and to include that explanation in paragraph 7.4 (PC9).  This 
makes the policy sound on this point, and also allows reasonable and sufficient 
flexibility in the future to decide on the exact location of any retail proposals. 

                                       
8 RET1 

20



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 

- 11 - 

33. As proposed to be changed by the Council, policy HW4 sets out the key 
principles of development on this mixed use site and the approximate scale for its 
main developments.  The policy refers to a concept map (Map 6e) which, together 
with the text, provides sufficient guidance for the production of a masterplan to 
flesh out the detail of the HW4 mixed use allocation.  The concept plan and the 
policy wording jointly provide adequate flexibility to deal with changing 
circumstances and to consider the exact boundaries and disposition of its various 
mixed uses following a more detailed site assessment.  So the Council’s suggested 
changes in PC8 and PC9 make the policy sound and resolve the unsoundness 
concerns previously set out in the box above. 
Issue 3 – Is policy HW5 (Hinchingbrooke) clear in its requirements and 
thereby effective? 
34. The College and Water Tower sites within policy HW5 already have planning 
permissions for various uses, but the policy allocates them for alternative uses 
should the permissions not be implemented.  The Council therefore suggested that 
the Proposals Map should be altered to reflect these AAP allocations, which should 
be done as the Proposals Map should geographically represent the policy’s 
intentions.  The Regulations do not empower me to recommend this change, but 
unless the Proposals Map is altered in this way inconsistency would result that 
would make the AAP unsound. 
35. The HW5 policy as submitted is unclear about how a number of the sites 
would be accessed, which make it less effective as there could be problems with 
their deliverability.  The Council resolved this unsoundness by suggesting a series 
of necessary changes (PC10) to the explanatory text and to Appendix 2 
(paragraph 2.5).  These set out the various access arrangements for site A and the 
College site (joint access to be determined), and site B and the Water Tower site 
(joint access). 
36. The policy in part d. contemplates parts of the very large hospital site being 
considered for office and non-residential uses (D1).  However, it does not specify 
which parts, the size of the potential allocation or when this might happen.  This 
makes it unsound as it would not be effective or justified.  The Council had no 
further information it could put into the policy on these points as this had only 
been a possibility which had not yet been fully resolved.  The Council therefore 
suggested that part d., and its associated explanatory text in paragraph 7.17, be 
deleted (PC11). 
37. The changes make the policy and its associated explanatory text in the AAP 
sound.  The words and concept map (Map 7d) in the AAP provide the subsequent 
required masterplan with sufficient guidance to work up the detailed 
implementation of these proposals. 
Issue 4 – Are policies HW6 (Country Park), HW7 (Views Common), HW8 
(Open Space) and HW9 (Design) clear in their requirements and thus 
effective?  
38. Extending the Country Park in policy HW6 is a continuation of a similar Local 
Plan proposal, but the AAP adds two other areas of land.  The Council suggested 
that the way in which the Country Park would be extended in stages should be set 
out in the explanatory text at paragraph 8.2.  I endorse this as otherwise the policy 
would be unsound as it would not set out how it would be implemented (PC12).  

21



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 

- 12 - 

Similarly, the Council suggested a change to Appendix 2 in its paragraph 2.1 to 
show how the implementation of the County Park extension would be handled and 
its timing (PC13).  I welcome this change as it makes the policy effective and so 
sound in its application. 
39. The Council suggested a change to paragraph 8.3 to make clear the intention 
that a new car park will be pursued (PC14).  I endorse this change as it makes 
effective an otherwise vague and uncertain part of the policy.  All these changes 
make policy HW6 coherent, effective and sound. 
40. Policy HW7 (Views Common) to retain and enhance the area as open space 
will not be as effective as submitted due to the Government’s withdrawal of the 
A14 scheme (the A14 embankment currently runs across it).  The Council’s 
suggested changes to the policy and to delete Map 9 recognise that the A14 will 
remain in the medium term and are necessary to make the policy sound and 
effective (PC15).  The open space allocation is, in any event, shown on the 
Proposals Map and so Map 9 is not necessary. 
41. The explanatory text to policy HW8 (Open Space) in paragraph 8.9 set out a 
requirement for open space expressed as an area related to a specified population 
increase.  However, there was no evidence to justify this requirement and so it is 
unsound.  The Council explained that it is preparing a fully justified open space 
standard in its forthcoming Development Management DPD, and so it suggested 
the deletion of this open space stipulation from the AAP (PC16).  This is the 
correct course of action to make the AAP sound. 
42. Policy HW9 (Design) set out some standards for the sustainability of buildings 
in matters such as energy efficiency in its parts 1, 2 and 3.  However, none of 
these were justified with supporting evidence as required in the PPS1 Climate 
Change Supplement and so they are unsound.  The Council said that the standards 
would form part of the future Development Management DPD where the necessary 
evidence would be produced, and so it was not necessary to retain them in the 
AAP.  For these reasons I endorse the Council’s suggested change to delete these 
parts of the policy and the supporting text in paragraphs 9.2 to 9.4 (PC17). 
Issue 5 – Does the AAP give sufficient guidance on infrastructure; and are 
the phasing provisions realistic and sufficiently flexible so that they can 
deal with slippages in the delivery of development proposals? 
43. The Council submitted during the Examination a schedule of the AAP’s 
infrastructure9 to implement its proposals which contained an estimated timeframe, 
cost and the main funder(s), based on the Local Investment Framework10.  Whilst 
some of the costs are estimates, it is not essential to be absolutely exact.  What 
the Council’s evidence shows, particularly for the Link Road, is that there is a very 
good and reasonable likelihood that the necessary infrastructure can be 
economically provided for the AAP’s development proposals within the stated 
timescale in Appendix 2.  On the basis of these figures I agree with the Council 
that the necessary infrastructure costs would be within the normal range of 
expected contributions from any development within the district. 

                                       
9 LOC51 
10 INF4 

22



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 

- 13 - 

44. The AAP as submitted says that a local access road (“link road”) into the 
Hinchingbrooke area would be investigated.  However, this was said to be only a 
possibility, and that it was not needed in order to deal with the extra traffic that 
would be generated by the AAP’s developments.  Therefore, the mention of 
developer contributions towards it in paragraph 1.5 of Appendix 2 is unsound as 
this requirement is presently unjustified and contrary to statute and Government 
advice.  I therefore endorse the Council’s suggestion to remove that requirement 
(PC18), together with necessary updating following the A14 scheme withdrawal.  
For the same reasons, I support the Council’s suggested changes to delete 
references to the Hinchingbrooke link road in the third paragraph of policy HW11 
and in paragraph 10.9 (PC19). 
45. Therefore, with these changes, the infrastructure policy HW10 and its 
associated Appendix 1 are sound as they are founded on robust evidence. 
46. The restrictive second paragraph of policy HW11 (phasing and 
implementation) is contrary to the evidence which is, as previously mentioned, that 
most of the AAP’s developments can take place without the A14 road 
improvements.  To make the policy factually correct and thus sound I therefore 
endorse the Council’s suggested change to delete this paragraph together with the 
associated and similar explanatory text in paragraph 10.8 (PC20), with an addition 
to indicate the ‘nil detriment’ basis for proposals’ traffic flows on the A14. 
47. This report has previously set out some necessary changes to Appendix 2 
(Phasing) to ensure soundness for the transport aspects and the development 
proposals in the AAP.  With those changes both policy HW11 and the fuller 
explanation in Appendix 2 deal clearly and effectively, and so soundly, with the 
proposed phasing and implementation of the AAP.  The phasing timings are 
sufficiently flexible to deal with known possible delays in the provision of major 
infrastructure, such as the Link Road. 
Issue 6 – Are the mechanisms in the AAP for monitoring sufficiently clear, 
detailed and meet national policy requirements? 
48. The monitoring chapter as submitted lacks detail because key indicators, 
timescales and targets are not clearly set for each policy.  These deficiencies 
render the monitoring ineffective and unsound.  The Council recognised this 
problem and submitted an amended monitoring chapter as a suggested change. 
49. In line with paragraph 4.4 of PPS12, the revised monitoring chapter shows for 
each policy (as far as is practicable) when, where and by whom a list of identified 
actions will take place to ensure effective delivery.  This will enable transparent 
and effective monitoring.  ‘SMART’ targets (specific, measurable, achievable, 
realistic and time-bound) have been set having regard to the availability of data 
and to the Council’s resources. 
50. This suggested change is reasonable and appropriate, and I endorse it to 
secure soundness in terms of effectiveness (PC21). 

Legal Requirements 
51. My examination of the compliance of the AAP with the legal requirements is 
summarised in the table below.  I conclude that the AAP meets all the legal 
requirements. 

23



Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD: Inspector’s Report December 2010 
 
 

- 14 - 

Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) 

The AAP is identified within the approved LDS 
February 2010 which sets out an expected adoption 
date of January 2011. This is achievable and the AAP 
is generally compliant with the LDS. 

Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA) 

SA has been carried out, independently verified, and 
is adequate. 

Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) and 
relevant regulations 

The SCI was adopted in November 2006 and 
consultation has been compliant with its 
requirements, including the consultation on the post-
submission SA and suggested changes. 

Appropriate Assessment 
(AA) 

The Habitats Regulations Assessment (November 
2009) put forward some recommendations for the 
avoidance and mitigation of a number of adverse 
impacts, and these were included in the submitted 
AAP.  The AA thus concluded that the AAP would not 
have an adverse effect on European sites. 

National Policy The AAP complies with national policy except where 
indicated, and changes are recommended to correct 
this. 

Regional Strategy (RS) The AAP is in general conformity with the RS. 
Sustainable Community 
Strategies (SCS) 

Satisfactory regard has been paid to the District and 
County SCSs. 

Core Strategy The AAP conforms with the Core Strategy except 
where indicated, and changes are recommended to 
correct this. 

2004 Act and Regulations 
(as amended) 

The AAP complies with the Act and the Regulations. 

 
 
Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 
52. I conclude that, with the changes proposed by the Council set out in 
Appendix A, the Huntingdon West Area Action Plan DPD satisfies the 
requirements of section 20 (5) of the 2004 Act and meets the criteria for 
soundness in PPS12.  Therefore I recommend that the AAP be changed 
accordingly.  And, for the avoidance of doubt, I endorse the Council’s 
proposed minor changes set out in Appendix B. 
 

David Vickery 
Inspector 
This report is accompanied by:  

Appendix A (separate document); and Appendix B (separate document) 

24



Panel 
Date 

Decision Action Response Date 

 

  

 
13/01/09 
 
 
 
 
 
 
09/02/10 
 
 
 
 

Heavy Goods Vehicle Parking In The District 
The outcome of discussions of the first meeting of the three 
county group to be reported. 
 
 
 
 
 
The Panel requested an update on the situation with regards 
to HCVs parking in the District. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Transportation Team Leader updated 
the Panel on the current situation. 
 
 
 

 
The County Council are 
developing a County advisory 
route network for HCVs, which 
they will be consulting the District 
Council on. 
 
 
The Executive Councillor for 
Planning Strategy and Transport 
has responded on behalf of the 
Council to the HCV Advisory 
Route Network Public 
Consultation. 
 
No further formal consultation has 
been received from the County 
Council.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
08/07/08 
 
 
 
 
7/12/10 
 
 
 
7/12/10 

Petition By St Audrey Lane Area Residents, St Ives 
Representatives from Anglian Water in attendance at the 
Panel’s July meeting. Requested that an update be 
provided in 6 months time and that residents be informed of 
the outcome of their investigations. 
 

 
The first meeting of the Local Drainage Liaison Group was 
held on 1st November 2010. 
 
 
An update was requested from Anglian Water’s Collection 
Manager was requested following the meeting of the Local 
Drainage Liaison Group. 

 
Email requesting update sent  
 
 
 
 
 
A further meeting of the Local Drainage 
Liaison Group will be arranged in due 
course. 
 
Email requesting update sent. 

 
CCTV survey of St Audrey Lane 
and Pig Lane Surface Water 
sewer completed. Funding now 
available to Jet Sewer – will be 
carried out shortly. 
 
 
 
 
 
Response awaited. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
genda Item

 7

25



Panel 
Date 

Decision Action Response Date 

 

  

 
13/07/10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
14/09/10 

Cycling In Huntingdonshire 
An update was requested from the Transport Team Leader. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
An update was requested from the Transport Team Leader. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Vice-Chairman undertook to make enquiries with the 
County Council regarding the audit trail for Section 106 
contributions generated from development in 
Huntingdonshire. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Discussions have been held with the 
Executive Councillor for Planning Strategy 
and Transport regarding the wider review 
which was scheduled for completion by 
December 2010. Given the ongoing 
consultation by the Council on budget 
spending and the possible cuts in the 
overall transport related budget, it has been 
considered unwise to consult with District 
and County Members on schemes at this 
time as this would exacerbate the 
unlikelihood of current schemes being 
delivered as well as any of those to be 
added, and raises Member and public 
expectation to an unnecessary degree with 
presently little hope of delivery. It was felt 
that the review should be over a longer 
timeframe when there is more certainty 
regarding likely funding. 
 
 

Hunts AJC considered the Perry 
proposals at their meeting on 11th 
October 2010. They endorsed the 
development of Option 1 and 
further development work is now 
taking place, including 
negotiations with both Anglian 
Water and the Sailing Club. 
Subject to the satisfactory 
conclusion of those negotiations, 
it is planned that the scheme will 
be implemented during Spring 
2011. 
 
At the same AJC meeting, the 
Committee were acquainted with 
the current proposals for the next 
phase of the cycling programme 
for Yaxley and Farcet which 
includes the provision of a first-
time off-road pedestrian and cycle 
route between the two villages. 
The Committee endorsed further 
development, including the need 
to secure third party land to 
deliver the scheme. It is hoped 
that the scheme will be delivered, 
subject to the completion of all 
required negotiations, during 
2011/12 using a combination of 
S.106 and Capital funds. 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

26



Panel 
Date 

Decision Action Response Date 

 

  

 
 
19/05/10 
 

Corporate Plan – Growing Success 
Councillors P M D Godfrey and D Harty appointed to the 
Corporate Plan Working Group. 
 

 
Quarterly reports submitted to all Overview 
& Scrutiny Panels. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
19/05/10 
 
 
 
 
7/12/10 

Local Area Agreements 
Councillor P M D Godfrey appointed to Joint Accountability 
Committee. Substitute Members to be appointed in 
consultation with the Head of Democratic and Central 
Services. 
 
Making Cambridgeshire Count was due to be considered at 
the meeting of the Joint Accountability Committee meeting 
held on 29th November 2010. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
13/07/10 
 
 
 
 
 
7/12/10 

Great Fen Project 
The Panel attended a tour of the Great Fen. 
 
 
 
 
 
The Panel requested an update from the Director of 
Environmental and Community Services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Email requesting update sent. 

The Director of Environmental 
and Community Services advised 
Members that updates on the 
progress of the project would be 
presented to the Panel at 6 
monthly intervals. 
 
An update on the Great Fen 
Project will be presented at the 
March meeting of the Panel. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
08/03/11 

 
 
 
7/12/10 

Environment Strategy 
 
The Panel received a review of the Environment Strategy. 

 
 
Members requested a further review in 12 
months time. 

 
 
An update on the Environment 
Strategy will be presented at the 
Panel’s meeting in December 
2011. 

 
 
December 

2011 

 

27



Panel 
Date 

Decision Action Response Date 

 

  

 
 
12/01/10 
 
 
13/07/10 
 
07/12/10 

Forward Plan 
 
Site Options Planning Proposals Development Plan 
Document 
 
Local Transport Plan 
 
Cambridgeshire Green Infrastructure Strategy 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
TBC 
 
 
08/02/11 
 
TBA 

 

28



 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANELS   
(SOCIAL WELL-BEING)                       1ST FEBRUARY 2011 
(ENVIRONMENTAL WELL-BEING)            8TH FEBRUARY 2011 
(ECONOMIC WELL-BEING)                      10TH FEBRUARY 2011 
 

 
WORK PLAN STUDIES 

(Report by the Head of Democratic and Central Services) 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to allow Members of the Panel to review their 

programme of studies and to be informed of studies being undertaken by the 
other Overview and Scrutiny Panels. 

 
2. STUDIES 
 
2.1 The Council has a duty to improve the social, environmental and economic well-

being of the District. This gives the Overview and Scrutiny Panels a wide remit to 
examine any issues that affect the District by conducting in-depth studies. 

 
2.2 Studies are allocated according to the Council’s service areas which have been 

identified as follows:- 
 

Social Well-Being 
 
Housing 
Community 
Leisure Centres 
Operations (part) 
Democratic and Central Services (part) 
People, Performance and Partnerships (part) 
 
Environmental Well-Being 
 
Environmental and Technical Services 
Planning Services 
Environmental Health 
Operations (part) 
 
Economic Well-Being 
 
Information Management 
Finance 
Customer Service and Call Centres 
Revenues 
Democratic and Central Services (part) 
Law, Property and Governance 
People, Performance and Partnerships (part) 
HQ/Accommodation 

 
2.3 Details of ongoing studies are set out in the attached Appendix. 
 

Agenda Item 8

29



 

2.4 Members are reminded that if they have a specific interest in any study area 
which is not being considered by their Panel there are opportunities for 
involvement in all the studies being undertaken. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 The Panel is requested to note the progress of the studies selected. 
 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Minutes and Reports from previous meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels. 
 
 
Contact Officers: Miss H Ali, Democratic Services Officer 
   01480 388006 
 
   Mrs A Jerrom, Member Development Officer 
   01480 388009 
 
   Mrs C Bulman, Democratic Services Officer 
   01480 388234 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30



 
ONGOING STUDIES 

 
STUDY 
 

OBJECTIVES PANEL STATUS TYPE 
 
 

Visitor Development & 
Town Centre Vibrancy 

To consider issues relating 
to Visitor Development & 
Town Centre Vibrancy. 

Economic Well-Being Further information 
requested on the cost of 
the tourism service and the 
benefits it brings to both 
the Council and to the 
District. 
 

Whole Panel Study 

Consultation Processes To review the Council’s 
current consultation 
processes with a view to 
determining whether the 
approach taken to 
consultation is suitable and 
consistent across the 
authority. 
 

Social Well-Being Working Group appointed 
to review the Council’s 
guidance on consultation 
methodology and evaluate 
examples of previous 
consultations. Second 
meeting of the Working 
Group held on 18th 
January 2011.  
 

Working Group 

Gypsy & Traveller Welfare 
 

To examine existing gypsy 
and traveller sites in the 
District with a view to 
informing any future 
Planning Policy on sites. 
 
 

Social Well-Being Report requested for 
submission to a future 
meeting. Following 
consultation with the 
Chairman, agreed that the 
study would only proceed if 
there is a Planning Policy 
requirement. 
 

To be determined. 

Health Implications of the 
Night Time Economy 

To follow up the previous 
study undertaken by the 
former Overview and 
Scrutiny (Service Support). 

Social Well-Being Social Well-Being Panel to 
consider whether to 
incorporate this study into 
their work programme. 
Further information to be 
submitted to a future Panel 
meeting. 

To be determined. 

31



 
Planning Conservation 
 
 

To consider & evaluate the 
role of the Council’s 
Planning Conservation 
Team in the preservation 
of Huntingdonshire’s built 
heritage with particular 
reference to conservation 
areas and listed buildings.  
 

Environmental Well-Being Working Group meetings 
held on 29th July, 5th 
August, 2nd September, 
7th and 22nd October, 11th 
and 18th November, 6th 

December, 21st December 
2010 and 5th January 
2011. 

Working Group. 
 
 
 

Leisure Centre Financial 
Performance and 
Employment Structure 

To review the overall 
financial performance and 
monitoring arrangements. 
To consider the current / 
future business structure. 
 

Economic Well-Being Agreed to establish a joint 
working group with 
Overview & Scrutiny Panel 
(Social Well-Being). 

Working Group 

Cambridgeshire Local 
Investment Plan 

To review the implications 
of the Investment Plan 
upon local housing, to 
include the potential 
shortfalls in the delivery of 
affordable housing within 
the District, identify what 
housing is due to come 
forward and to include 
reference to the underlying 
links between housing and 
planning.  
 

Social Well-Being Report to be considered at 
Panel’s April 2011 
meeting. 

Whole Panel Study. 

CCTV Provision within the 
District 
 

To review the impact of the 
Council’s proposal to 
cease the CCTV service 
with effect from April 2012. 
  

Social Well-Being Considered at Panel’s 
January meeting. To be 
considered further under 
the Budget and MTP item 
at the Economic Well-
Being Panel’s meeting in 
February 2011. 
 
  
 

Whole Panel Study. 

32



 
Proposals to replace 
EEDA with LEPs. 

To establish the 
implications of these 
proposals. 
 

Economic Well-Being Presentation given to 
December meeting. 
 
Update requested for 
future meeting. 
 

Whole Panel Study. 

Voluntary Sector To be determined. 
  

Social Well-Being Request made by the 
Voluntary Sector to raise 
this item at a future Panel 
meeting. The matter was 
debated at the Council 
meeting in December 
2010. The Chief Executive 
of the Hunts Forum of 
Voluntary Organisation will 
be addressing the Panel at 
its February 2011 meeting. 
 

To be determined. 

 A14 improvements. To review the implications 
to the local economy of the 
decision not to proceed 
with the A14 
improvements. 
 

Economic Well-Being Members decided that they 
want to engage local MPs 
in a co-ordinated approach 
to lobbying the 
Government with a view to 
achieving the Council’s 
aim of upgrading the A14 
in a more cost effective 
way than previously 
planned. 
 

Whole Panel Study. 

Customer Service Centres To review the impact of the 
Council’s proposals to 
close the facilities at 
Ramsey, Yaxley, St Ives 
and St Neots.  
 

Social Well-Being Considered at Panel’s 
January meeting. To be 
considered further under 
the Budget and MTP item 
at the Economic Well-
Being Panel’s meeting in 
February 2011. 
 
 

To be determined. 

33



 
The Use of Consultants To review the criteria used 

in the appointment of 
consultants and assess the 
cost and value gained from 
using them. 
 

Economic Well-Being Further meeting to be 
arranged when additional 
information has been 
obtained. 

Working Group. 

The Financial Implications 
of the Council’s Future 
Housing Responsibilities. 

To be determined. Economic Well-Being Councillor M F Shellens to 
discuss with Chairman the 
possible terms of the 
study. 
 

To be determined. 

Tree Strategy To form a strategy in 
conjunction with the Tree 
Officers for the retention 
and planting of trees. 
 

Environmental Well-Being Working Group meetings 
on 5th and 24th November 
2010. 
 
The next meeting is 
scheduled to be held in 
January 2011. 
 

Working Group. 

Rural Crime To be determined. Social Well-Being Panel to 
nominate representative to 
participate in any future 
joint work as and when 
required. 
 

Meeting of Safer and 
Stronger Communities 
Scrutiny Committee held 
on 13th December 2010. 
 

Joint Authority Working 
Group. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34



 
POSSIBLE FUTURE STUDIES 

 
 
The Employees 
Performance Development 
Review Process 
 
 

To review the current 
process. 

Economic Well-Being Outcome of Officer Review 
to be reported to the Panel 
when this is concluded. 
 
Work is expected to 
conclude in Spring 2011. 
 

To be determined. 

Land Use for Agricultural 
Purpose in the context of 
planning policies and its 
contribution to the local 
economy. 
 

To review the lack of 
promotion and protection 
of land for this purpose. 

Environmental Well-Being Not being pursued as a 
study at the current time. 

To be determined. 

Rural Transport To review the lack of 
transportation in rural 
areas. 
 

Environmental Well-Being Not being pursued as a 
study at the current time. 

To be determined. 

 

35



36

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	3 Local Government Act 2000: Forward Plan
	5 Huntingdon West Area Adoption Procedures
	Appendix 1 - Huntingdon AAP Letter and Report

	7 Overview and Scrutiny Panel Progress
	8 Work Plan Studies

